STATE OF MICHIGAN
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER & INDUSTRY SERVICES
BUREAU OF HEALTH SERVICES
BOARD OF MEDICINE
DISCIPLINARY SUBCOMMITTEE

In the Matter of

J. GILBERTO HIGUERA, M.D. Complaint No. 43-01-1225-00
/ CONSENT ORDER AND STIPULATION

CONSENT ORDER

An Administrative Complaint was filed with the Disciplinary Subcommittee of
the Board of Medicine on June 25, 2001, charging J. Gilberto Higuera, M.D.,
(Respondent), with having violated sections 16221(b)(v) and (b)(viii) of the Public
Health Code, 1978 PA 368, as amended; MCL 333.1101 et seq; MSA 14.15(1101) ef seq.

Respondent has admitted by Stipulation contained in this document that the
facts alleged in the Complaint are true and constitute violation of the Public Health

Code.

The Disciplinary Subcornmittee has reviewed the Stipulation contained in this
document and agrees that the public interest is best served by resolution of the

outstanding Complaint.

Therefore, the Disciplinary Subcommittee finds that the allegations of fact
contained in the Complaint are true and constitute a violation of sections 16221(b)(v)

and (b)(viii) of the Public Health Code.



Accordingly,

1T IS ORDERED that for each of the violations Respondent's license is REVOKED
commencing on the effective date of this Order. The revocations shall run concurrently.
This revocation shall run concurrently with the previous order of suspension entered on
January 29, 1999, by which Respondent’s license was suspended for six months and one

day. (Complaint No. 43-94-5210-00.)

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall pay the $5,000.00 fine imposed
as part of the sanction in Comptaint No. 43-94-5210-00 prior to filing his application for
reinstatement. The payment of the fine shall be mailed to the Sanction Monitoring of
Health Services, Department of Consumer & Industry Services, P.O. Box 30185,
Lansing, Michigan 48909,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that should Respondent violate any term or
condition set forth here, it may be determined that Respondent has violated an order of
the Disciplinary Subcommittee, 1996 AACS, R 338.1632, and section 16221(g) of the
Public Health Code.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a petition for reinstatement may not be filed

until three years after the effective date of the revocation.



IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shall be effective on the date signed
by the Disciplinary Subcommittee or its authorized representative, as set forth below.

(917"

Signed this day of é C.Pﬂ_j - , 2001.

Chairperson, DWbcomnﬂttee

STIPULATION

The parties stipulate and agree as follows:

1. The allegations of fact contained in the Complaint are true and constitute a

violation of sections 16221(b)(v) and (b)(viii) of the Public Health Code.

2. Respondent understands and intends that by signing this stipulation he is
waiving the right pursuant to the Public Health Code, rules promulgated thereunder,
and the Administrative Procedures Act of 1969, 1969 PA 306, as amended; MCL 24.201
et seq; MSA 3.560(101) ef seq, to require the State to prove the charges set forth in the
Complaint by presentation of evidence and llegal authority, and to appear with an
attorney and sucl‘; witnesses as Respondent may desire to present a defense to the

charges before the Disciplinary Subcommittee or its authorized representative.

3. Respondent understands that reinstatement of the license at the end of the
period of revocation is not automatic but that pursuant to sections 16245 and 16247 of
the Public Health Code, and rules promulgated thereunder, a petition for reinstatement

must be filed and Respondent must establish by clear and convincing evidence that he



is of good moral character, is able to practice the profession with reasonable skill and

safety, and that it is in the public interest for the license to be reinstated.

4. The Board's conferee, Kenneth McNamee, M.D., who has indicated support of
this proposal, and the undersigned Assistant Attorney General are free to discuss this
matter with the Disciplinary Subcommittee and recommend acceptance of the

resolution set forth in the Consent Order.

5. This Consent Order is approved by the respective parties and may be entered

as the Final Order of the Disciplinary Subcommittee in this cause.



6. This proposal is conditioned upon its acceptance by the Disciplinary
Subcommittee, the parties expressly reserving the right to further proceedings without

prejudice should the Consent Order be rejected.

AGR?I%B') TO BY: AGREED TO BY:

s Moy padegpaccna SO
Merry A RoJenberg (F32120) L gélberto nguera( M.D.

Assistant Attorney General Respondent

Attorney for Complainant
Dated:__% ‘ 4 ! bl

State of Cb\,oe,ﬂ{b O )

)ss
County of Eﬁé LE )
On theZ) > day of Jduvny , 2001, J. Gilberto Higuera, M.D., signed this
Consent Order and Stipulation in fron’c of me.
797 ."'.0 :
. Notary Pu hc, E‘\GLE County
State of Lol oRA() .

e 7 My commission expires:_/2-/ 15/200 |

'~
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[ have review&d" Tad approved
the foregoing document both-

as to form mé—s»b?7/p

Max R. Hoffman Ir. d}?ﬁa 9)
Attorney for Responde

This is the last and final page of a Consent Order and Stipulation in the matter of J.

Gilberto Higuera, M.D,, pending before the Disciplinary Subcommittee of the Michigan
Board of Medicine, and consisting of five pages, this page included.

drr.cases. MARO1. Higuera Higuera P COS



STATE OF MICHIGAN
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER & INDUSTRY SERVICES
BUREAU OF HEALTH SERVICES
BOARD OF MEDICINE
DISCIPLINARY SUBCOMMITTEE

In the Matter of

J. GILBERTO HIGUERA, M.D.
" / Complaint No. 43-01-1225-00

ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT

Attorney General Jennifer M. Granholm, through Assistant Attorney General Merry A.
Rosenberg, on behalf of the Department of Consumer & Industry Services, Bureau of Health
Services (Complainant), files this Complaint against J. Gilberto Higuera, M.D., (Respondent),

alleging upon information and belief as follows:

1. The Board of Medicine (Board), an administrative agency established by the

" Public Health Code, 1978 PA 368, as amended; MCL 333.1101 ef seg; MSA 14.15(1101} ef segq,

is empowered to discipline licensees under the Code through its Disciplinary Subcommittee.

2., Respondent’s license to practice medicine is currently suspended pursuant to a
Final Order entered on J anuarj,'r 29, 1999, based on findings that Respondent had violated
sections 16221(a) and (b)(i) and (b)(vi) of the Public Health Code for relising medical supplies
between patients and sections 16221(a), (b)(i), and (b)(vi) for altering a patient’s record.

(Attachment 1)

3. Section 16221(b){(v) of the Public Health Code provides the Disciplinary
Subcommittee with authority to take disciplinary action against Respondent’s license for

conviction of a felony. A certified copy of the court record is conclusive evidence of the

conviction.



4. Section 1622 1(b)(viii) of the Public Health Code provides the Disciplinary
Subcommittee with authority to take disciplinary action against Respondent’s license for
conviction of a violation of section 492a of the Michigan Penal Code, 1931 PA 328, MCL

750.492a. A certified copy of the court record is conclusive evidence of the conviction,

5. Section 16226 of the Public Health Code provides that the sanction for a violation

of section 1622 1{b)(viil) is revocation.

6. On May 7, 2001, Respondent pled guilty to one count of altering a patient’s

record in violation of MCL 750.492a. (Attachment 2}

7. On May 30, 2001, Respondent was sentenced to probation for one year for this

conviction. (Attachment 2)

COUNT I
8. The conduct described in paragraph 6 above constitutes conviction of a felony, in

violation of section 16221(b)(v) of the Public Health Code.

COUNT II
9. The conduct described in paragraph 6 above constitutes a conviction of MCL

750.492a, which constitutes a violation of section 16221(b)(viii) of the Public Health Code.

THEREFORE, Complainant requests that this Complaint be served upon Respondent and
that Respondent be offered an opportunity to show compliance with all lawful requirements for
retention of the aforesaid license. If compliance is not shown, Complainant further requests that

formal ﬁroceedings be commenced pursuant to the Public Health Code, rules promuigated



pursuant to it, and the Administrative Procedures Act of 1969, 1969 PA 306, as amended; MCL

24.201 et seq; MSA 3.560(101) et seq.

RESPONDENT IS HEREBY NOTIFIED that, pursuant fo section 16231(7) of the Public
Health Code, Respondent has 30 days from receipt of this Complaint to submit a written
response to the allegations contained in it. The written response shall be submitted to the Bureau
of Health Services, Department of Consumer & Industry Services, P.O. Box 30670, Lansing,
Michigan, 48909, with a copy to the undersigned assistant attorney general. Further, pursuant to
section 16231(8), failure to submit a written response within 30 days shall be treated as an
admission of the allegations contained in the Complaint and shall result in transmittal of the
Complaint directly to the Board's Disciplinary Subcommittee for imposition of an appropriate

sanction.

Respondent’s license shall remain suspended pursuant to the Final Order entered on

January 29, 1999.

Respectfully submitted,

JENNIFER M. GRANHOLM
Attorney General

i

S l. iy "

] MerrylA. Rosenberg
Assistant Attofney General
Health Profesgiodals Division
P.O. Box 30217
Lansing, Michigan 48909
Tel:  (517)373-1146
Date: June 25, 2001 Fax: (517) 241-1997

Attachments
Tlk/mar({cases higuera P AC 6-25-01



STATE OF MICHIGAN
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER & INDUSTRY SERVICES
BOARD OF MEDICINE DISCIPLINARY SUBCOMMITTEE

In the Matter of -

JOSE GILBERTO HIGUERA, M.D. Complaint Number: 43-94-5210-00
License Number: 43-01-0280483 Docket Number: 96-0616

FINAL ORDER

On July 22, 1986, the Department of Attorney General, Health Proiessionals

Division, hereafter Health Professionals Division, filed an Administrative Complaint with

the Disciplinary Subcommittee of the Michigan Board of Medicing, hereafter Disciplinary
Subcommittee, charging Jose Gilberto Higuera, M.D., hereafter Respandent, with

violations of sections 16221(a), 16221(b)(i), and 16221(b){vi) of the Public Health Gode,

1978 PA 368, as amended.

On December 17, 1298, Respandent filed a Motion for Stay of Praceedings,

requesting a stay of the administrative proceedings pending resolution of criminal -

proceedings against Respondent which were based on the same conduct as alleged in

the Adminisirative Complsint.

On January 2, 1997, the Health Professionals Division filed the State’s

Respanse to Motion for Stav of Procsedings and the State’s Brief in Supoort of Resoonsa

in Opoosition to Respondent's Motion for Stay of Proceadings.

On January 10, 1997, the administrative law judge issued an Order Granting

Partial Stav of Allegations, which ordered the hearing of allegations in paragraphs 7
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‘through 12 of Count | and paragraph 15 of Count Il of the Administrative_Complaint

stayed. It was also ordered that the hearing would go forward as scheduled on
paragraphs 13, 14, and 16 through 20 of Count | and paragrapbs 21 through 24 of Count

Ul of the Administrative Complaint.

On Aprit 28, 1997, the Health Professionals Division filed a Superseding

Administrative Complaint.

An administrative hearing was held in the matter before the administrative

law judge who, on October 26, 1998, issued a Proonasai for Decision setting forth

.

recammended findings of fact and conclusions of law.

On November 4, 1998, Respondent filed a Mation for Reconsideration of

Order Granting Partial Stay, requesting a stay of all administrative proceedings pending

rasolution of the related criminal matter.

On November 9, 1998, the Health Professionals Division filed the Siate's

Response in Opposition to Respondent’'s Mation for Reconsideration of Order Granting

Partial Stay.

On Navember 10, 1998, Respondent filed Respondent's Obijections ‘o

Proposal for Decision.




o

On November 12, 1998, Respondent filed Respondent's Reoly to State’s

Response in Opposition to Resoandent’'s Motion for Reconsideration of Order Granting

Partial Stay. _ -

On November 24, 1998, the Health Professionals Division filed the State's

Response to Resoondent’s Obiections to Proposal for Decision.

On December 3, 1998, the administrative law judge issued an Qrder Deaving

Reconsideration of Partial Stav and Denying Oral Argument.

On January 19, 1999, Respondent filed a Petition for Remand & Stay with

accompanying Brief in Supoort of Petition for Remand & Stay, requesting that the Board

issue an order remanding the matter for hearings on the remaining allegations and staying
the administrative proceedings pending final adjudication of the related criminal matter,

and requesting oral arguments on the matter.

On January 19, 1999, the Health Professionals Division filed a letter in

opposition to Respondent’s Petition for Remand & Stay.

The Disciplinary Subcommitiee, having reviewed the administrative record,
cansidered the within matter at a regularly scheduled mesting held in Lansing, Michigan,
an January 20, 1999, denied Respondent's petition ior remand and stay of the

administrative proceedings, and Respandent's request for oral arguments.



Further, the Disciplinary Subcommittee affirmed the administrative law

judge’s findings of fact and conclusions of law in the Proposal for Decision.

- -

T 1S HEREBY ORDERED that for violations of sections 16221(a),
16221(b)(i), and 16221(b)(vi) of the Public Health Code, suora, Respondent’s license to

practice medicine in the state of Michigan is SUSPENDED for a minimum period of six

months and one day, commencing on the effective date of this order. The periods of

suspension shall run concurrently.

T IS EURTHER ORDERED that reinstatement of a license which has been
suspended for more than sixmonths is not autamatic and, in the event Respondent applies
for reinstatement of his license, application for reinstatement shall be in accordance with

1996 MR 7, R 338.1835. Further, Respondent shall supply to the Michigan Board of

Medicine, pursuant to section 16247 of the Public Health Code, supra, clear and
convincing evidence that Respondent is of good moral character, is able to practice the

profession with reasonable skill and safet;r, and that it is in the public interest for

Respondent to resume the practice.

l"f' IS FURTHER ORDERED that for the aforesaid violations of the Public
Health Code, Respondent is FINED in the amount of $5,000.00, to be paid to the State of
Michigan prior to Respondent's application for reinstatement of his license. The fine shall
be mailed to the Department of Consumer & Industry Services, Ofiice of Health Services,

Credentials Unit, P.0. Box 30185, Lansing, Michigan 48809. The fine shall be paid by




‘chaeck or money order made payable to the State of Michigan, and the check or money

L order shall clearty display (or show) the formal complaint number 43-94-5210-00.

- —

(T IS FURTHER ORDERED that in the event Respondent violates any
provision of this order, and if such violation is deemed to constitute an independent -
violation of the Public Heaith Cade or the rules promulgated thereunder, the Disciplinary
Subcommittee may proceed to take disciplinary action pursuant to 1956 MR 7, R338.1632

and section 16221(g) of the Public Health Code, supra.

T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shai‘i be effective 30 days from

the date signed by the Disciplinary Subcommittee’'s Chairperson or its authorized

representative, as set forth below.

Dated:Qmw{M ,:J‘?, (999

MlCHiGAIZ BOARD O[MEDICINE
DISCIPLINARY SUBCOMMITTEE

o (L M@%MZM@

Carole Hakala Engle, Director
Health Licensing Division

This is the last and final page of a Final Order in the matter of Jose Gilberto Higuera, M.D., Complaint
Number 43-94-5210-00, Docket Number 96-0818, before the Disciplinary Subcommittee of the Michigan
Board of Medicine, consisting of five pages, this page included.

8H



STATE OF ¥ICHIGAN
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND INDUSTRY SERVICES

OFFICE OF LEGAL SERVICES

In the matter of
Docket No. 96-0616

Office of Health Services
Agency No. 43-94-5210-00

Petitioner
v
Jose Gilberto Hiquerz, M.D. AgencyName: OHS
Respondent
Case Type: Sanction
/ .
h Issued and entered
L this <77 day of October 1998 -
by Renee A. Ozburn L
Administrative Law Judge
PROPOSAL FOR DECISTON
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 22, 1996 an Adminisuative Complaint was issued in this mater. On Januvary 7.

vy

1997, oral argument was heard on the Respondent's Motion to Stay Procesdings. On January 10,

1997, this Administrative Law Judge(ALJ) issued an an Order Granting PamJ Stay of Allegarions.

-=

Hearings began on April 22, 1997 and continued on Agril 237, 24® and ’JJLh On Apnl 28. 1997,

the Petitioner issued a Superceding Administrative Complaint. (Complaint) The fma_‘ d..v of

hearings was Augusi 12, 1997. The record remainad open until eazly Apdl 1998,
Throughout these procesdings the Petitioner has been represented by Assistaat Atomey

hearings

General Merry Rosenberg. The Respoadent, Dr. Jase Hiquers, did not appear at any of the

but was at all times represented by Anomey Max Hoffman.
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OHS v Jose Gilberto Higuera, ¥L.D.
Proposal for Decision ‘
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ISSUES AND APPLICABLE LAW

Paragraphs #1 through #22 in the original and superceding Complaint(s) are the same. [n this
ALJ's Order dated January 10, 1997, paragraphs #7 through #12 of Count I, and paragraph 7 15 of
Counz II, were Stayed. The Pstdoner amended its Complaint at the beginning of the hearings on

Aprl 22, 1997, The amended paragraphs (Le. #23 through #23 ) were also Stayed.

The hearings procesded on allegations in paragraphs # 13, 1+, 16,17, 18, 19 and 20 of Count
| 11 and paragraphs #21 and 22 of Count III of the Complaint. Thess allegations assert that the
| Respondent altered a patent's chart and reused IV bags and syringes betwesn patients i violation

of the Public Health Code, 1978 PA 368, as amended; MCL 333.1101 et seq; MSA 14.15(1101) et

seq, (Code), Sections 16221(a), (oXi) and (vi) which provide as follows:

| Sac. 16221, The departmant may investigate activities related to the practice of a health professian by a
licansee, a registrant, or an apelicant for licensure or registration. The department may hald hearings,

‘ adrminister oaths, and order relevant testimony to be =ken and shall report its findings o the appropriate
disciplinary subcommittee. The disciplinary subcommittee shall proceed under section 16226 it finds that
1 or more of the following grounds exist '

(a) A violation of general duty, consisting of negligence or failure to exercise due care, including negligent
delegationtoor supc;rvision af empleyess or other individuais, whether of nat injury results, or any ceacuct,
practica, or condition which imeairs. or may impair, the ability to saiely and skiilfully practice the heaith
profession.

(b) Personai disqualifications, consisting of 1 or mare of the following:
(i) Incompetence. )
(vi) L.ack of good moral characiar.

EXHIBITS

Petitioner Exhibits:
#1 A cooy of Ulwesound Findings dated 10/14/94, r=: patien: D.D . (initals used

to protect privacy of pagent)



o Dacket No. 96-0616
L% OHS vy Jose Gilberto Higuers, M.D.
Proposal for Decision
Page 3 '

42, Patjent chart re: D.D.

#3 Abortion price char

44 1 arpinaria [nformed Conseat form

#5 4 pages from D.D. patent chart

46 An IV Bag (remanded to the care of Aty. Rasenberz)
#7 Photograph of an [V Bag

#é.éyrin-ges (remanded to care of Atty. Rosenberg)
#9/94 ESDA film and photocopy of film

#10/10a ESDA film and photocopy of film re:Q-3

#11 Calculations of Ecich Speckin

412/12a ESDA film and photocopy of film re: Q-12
#13/132 ESDA film and photocopy re: Q-11

#14/14a ESDA film and photocapy re:Q-13

#121_’ 132 ESDA film a.n-d. photocopy re:Q-14

#16 Not Admitted
%17 Bottle of Diazepam (remanded to care of Ady. Rosenberg)
418 Not Admitted
i #19 Not Admitted
| 210 Maude Guerin, M.D., Curriculum Vitae

‘ : #21 Sparrow Hospital policy re: IV Bags
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OHS v Jose Gilberto Higuera, M.D.
Proposal for Decision

Page 4

422 Not Admitted |

#23 Excerpts from J.H. deposition( excepting lines 1-10 p. 65)
Respondent Exhibits:

A - Erick Speckin Paper re: Ink Dating

B - Not Offered

C- Not Offered

D- Butterfly Infusion Set (remanded to care of Atty. Hoffman)

E -Not Admitted

F -Not Admitted

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

Re: Allesation of Patient Record Alteration

Witness: D.D.

Patient D.i?):-; testified, in a deposition taken June 11, 1997, that shé called the Respondent’soffice
in Octobar 1994 to inquire about obtaining an‘abortion. She called 2 number that was listed in the Yellow
Pages. She was asked some quesuons over the phone. She believes the person who answered the p'none.
identified herself as “Sharon”. D.D. told this person that she thought she was about 22 to 23 weeks
pregnant and was givea a price for an abortion procedure in the range of $1,900 for that length of &

pregnancy. D.D. asked sone questions about whether insurance would pay for the procedure and was

promised a return call with that information. A person called her back and told her that she would have



e
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to bring S1 ,500 in cash and her insurance would pay the $300 balance.

D.D. was advised to come in soon because they woulda't want her to be “furcher along”. She
acknowledged that she was not sure of exacdy how long she had besa pregnant because sie sill had
some menstruation afier she tecame pregoant. This had also hacpened when she was pregmant with her
oldest child. She was informed thar it would be a two day procedurs.

On October 14, 1994 sie arrived at the Respondent’s Highland Park office and teadersd the
$1,600 cash she had be=n told to bring. She was told that an ulrasound would be pcrformecﬂi'and then a
[ aminaria. D.D. testified that 2 “nurse” named “Rebecca” came in and performed an ulrasotnd. Afier
performing the procedure Rebecea said “Un-oh” and when D.D. inquired about what she meant, Rebecca
told her *I think youw'rz a licie further along than what you said." When D.D. expressed concern,
Rebecca said “...we'll let the doctor see what he says when he comes in.”

When the Respond.cnt came in, he looked at “it” @d said to Rebecca something like “T think
you're rigfxt". She is sure he was referring to the ulrasound because he was looking directly at the
ultrasound picturawhen he said * ii”. The Respondent then asked D.D. why she wanted an aportion and
she told him * because it's not the right time”. He e;sked a few other questions about whether she had
a job and where she lived and then told her an abortion would cost $3,000. Whea she asked him why the
price had increased he said it was because she was 2 couple of wezks farther along {han what she had

been originally priced for. He also told her once he began the I aminaria procedure she would not &2 able

to change her mind.

v

1

D.D. testified that the Respondent told her after he insesied toe [.aminaria sicks on the firstda
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of the procedure she might have some cramping and she might go into labor and, if that happened, she
was to call Rebecca rather tham go 10 2 hospital. Whea she asked what he meant atow her going into
faboc, he told her she might deliver a “live baby”. Although D.D. remembers being told that she was “27
and a half” wes=ks pregnant, she can got rememeer if only Rebecca made that statement or whether the
Respondent also stated the acteal length of hnr pregnancy. D.D. paid a total af $1,9C0 herself and her
insurance paid anmer $1,100 for the procedure(s).

D.D. had net seen any other physician/ OB-GYN regarding her pregnancy befors going 10 the
Respondent for an aborton. She acknowledges that she fiiled out a patient hisiory form at the
Respondent’s office indicating that her last menstrual p-eri“oci started Aprl 23, 1994 Toat #as her best
estimate at the time she filled out the form. [f this had been accurate she would nave be=n about 32 or
23 weeks pregnant by October 14,1994, However, because she had continued ta have measaual flow well
into her previous pregnancies ske never asserted that she was absolutely sure of how far along sne was
in her pregnancy based on 2 menstrual date.

Al no time.was there any ciscussion about the “legality” of an aboriion depending on the weaks
of pregnancy. D.D.'s main concern was whether the procadure wotld be demrimental 10 her health. She
gave the Respondent permissioz 0 proceed with the aborion. D.D. never filed a complaint with .y‘on:‘.ﬂ
concerming the abortion and was only brought into this matier afier being conizcied oy
not her desire o end up discussing this vary personal mamer with anytody.

Witness: Randi Holtzman

Randi Holtzman is a Health Professional [nvesdgator with the Deparanent of Consumer and
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Industry Servicss (CIS). Io Jaguary 1995 she began an investgation of the Respondent afier Rebecea
Black filed a complaint with the state aileging that he performed illegal late tarm atordons and reused
[V bags and syringes. Ms. Black gever made any ailegation that the Respondent bad altezed patieat
records. Ms. Holtzman intervizwed Ms. Black at Ms. Black’s home on January 24, 1593, Ms. Black gave
Ms. Holtzman documeats, including patient records, as well as syringes, IV bags and botles of
medication. Exhibits 1 and « ars documeats given to Ms. Holtzman oa January 24, 1995. She does not
know if they are capies or originals. Ms. Holtzman inventoried the items and copied documents and
returned them to Ms. Black. Ms. Holtzman subpoenaed D.D.’s original patieat records on ‘ip'ﬁl 1, 1995
and she recsived thern (Exbibit 2) on May 24, 1995, from the Respondeat’s atiorney. The Exhibit 2
records were stored in Ms. Holmman’s warking file in ber Dewoit offics and then mensfered o her
supervisat’s passession.

Wnen Ms. Holtzman received the Exhibit 2 records in May 1993, sie comparsd them with the
documents given to her by Ms. Black in January 1995. She noticed 2 decrepancy berween the Exhibit |
ulgasound form provided Dy Vs, Black indicating *28 weeks” for D.D:on 10/14/9¢ and the ultrasound
form id Exhibit 2 indicadng "2+ weeks” for D.D. on 10/14/94. ' L

VWitness: Rebecca Black

Rebecca Black was hired by the Respondent a5 a medical supervisor in Septzmber 1335, She

remained in this position unel Nevamber of 1994, Ms. Black is not licensed 2s a health profzssionzl. She
has had some raining in 2 “sursing assistance program” and she completed aporoximately 10 months of

training towards obtaining her LPN certification. She has worked for poysicians in Michig
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approximately 1977. For aver six years she worked as a medical supervisor at the Woman's Counsaling

- Her duties at the Caater included performing uttrasounds on pregnant women (o determine the

starus of a fetus as well as for treatment of fibroids.

When Ms. Black worked for the Respoadent, he had an office in Highland Park aad ons in
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan. Ms. Black worked at both officss. The Respandent performed pap tesis,

ultrasounds and abortions in the two offices. Ms. Black’s responsibilities in the office increased over iime

from ordering supplies to having mors direct patient contact. She assisted the Respondent in performing

ulirasounds and abortions.

Ms Black described in detail her understanding of the procedure for performing an ultrasound.
When the test was to determine gestational age she described her process as follows:

«__first you make sure the table’s clean... put the patient on the table and drape
her. Put the cream on whatever area (of) her stomach at an area where you're
going to do it. And make sure the machine is on. And we use the sound. You
move it backwards and forward (indicating) and tape what you're looking for...
(for gestational age). You have 1o know what you are looking for. Gestational
age is just a sac. [t’s a sac of pregnancy.”

Ms. Black described a bi-parietal measure (i.e,, BPD) as the “head measure”. A caliper is
used to measure the head, or fetal skull. Where the calipers are placed depends on how the hadd's

feamured on the ulresound scrsen. The calipers can be placed on the innter or outer skull o g2tz

measurement, again depending on how the head is fearured on the scee=n. Different doctors prefer

one or the other (l.e. wner or outer put the Re dant never instructed Ms. Black r=zarding 2
SpOn It g g

referanca. However, once the calipers are laced a “BPD™ bution on the ulzasound machine is
f P 4,

pushed and it gives outa gestational age reading (e.g. 23 wesaks™).
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Accarding to Ms. Black, the Respondeat did not do pelvic exams (o determine gestational
age. The norr‘nal practice was that after Ms. Black performed an ultrasound, the Raspondant
accepted her findings unless she askad him to recheck ar redo the test. Only the ulzasound regort
was used for determining actual gesiational age. The Respondent's saff useda “wheel” that would
calculate wesks of pregnancy, based on what a patient reported 2s her LMP, oaly to give an
estimated cast for an aporton procedure.

The ultrasound machine used in the Highland Park office produced a Polaroid picturg and
the machine in Bloomfield Hills produced a printout. To calibrate the length of 2 pre.:f.;r_r!.ié.qcy
generally a “crown to rump” measurement was taken for earlier pregnancies and a “BPD”
measurement was taken in later pregnancies. [n pregnancies that were further along, Ms. Black
mightask the Responde.r;t to repeat the ulirasound himself. A two day procedure was also used with
pregnancies that were desmed (o be over 15 wesks. The Respondent always made the final
determination of the agz of a fewus.

On October 1+, 1594, padent D.D. came (0 the Highland Park offics and Ms. Black

perforted an ultrasound on her. According to Ms. Black’s testimony, and the Exhibit Ip atient

record filled out with Ms. Black’s and “Mary’s” handwriting, the ulrasound indicated that patient
D.D. was 28 wesks pregnant based on the measurements she ook, Ms. Black acknowledged da

only the Respondentis qualified to actually “asiablish” gestation. Although a picture Was procducad
with the ultrasound used in Highland Park, it was not placed in the patient file pursuant 0 oifics

policy. Ms. Black showed the Respondent the picture and reporied her findings indicating & 23
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week fetus. The Respondent told Ms. Black he would check the patient and make a decision on

whether * he would do her or not”
Ms. Black asserts that, in her presence, the Respondeat did his owm ulzasound on patent

D.D. and the machine read “28 wesks” a second tme. He told D.D. that this was a liule beyond

+
- Tal
(3

whea he would normaily do aa zhordon, but if she promised aotto gota a hospital afier he starte

the aboction procsss he could do it. According to Ms. Black, this was because if she weat 0 a

hospiial they woull:gI probably deliver 2 live fetus that could get the Respondent in trouble. Hf:‘ ge.ve:
D.D. Ms. Black's home phone number in case she weat into labor during the night between Lhc €Wo
day procedure so that they could then mest at the clinic instead of the hospital.

Ms. Black testified that the Respondent never did an ultrasound on D.D., in her presencs,

showing the patieat to be 24 (vs. 28) weeks pregnant. The Exhibit 1 Ultrasound Form does not

contain a signarure in the place for the “Sonographer”. Ms. Black siated that she never signed these

forms, the Respondent normally did.

Ms. Black lestified that normally the Respondent filled out patientcharts and billing forms.

he left the office for the

in her presencs, at the desk, after leaving an examination room or before

day. However, he did not complete D.D.'s uirasound form in her presence. 3he idenuiied the

writing on the Exhibit 2 ulzasound form indicating 24 weeks” as the Respondent’s.

According to Ms. Black, she was invelved in purting patieat records together and she

testified (o the usual order in which documents were placed in 2 file and what might be swplad

together. The usual order was; 1) patient history sheet, 2) conseat far tecmination, 3)arbiTaticn
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agreement, 4)ultrasound shest, 5)anesthesia explanaton, 6) laboratory shest and 7} 2 physical exam
shest. All of these would be sapled together. Putting these charts together in the adave order did
not always oceur on the day of the patieats visit, but rather when saaff had ume.

Ms. Black acknowledges that she took patient D.D.’s file home without pcfmission when
she decided to file a complaint against the Respondent. When she called the Wayne County Medical
Sociery with her concerms they informed her she would need proof for aay accusations . Tnarefore,
when she removed files from the office she did not consider it to be stealing especially stace she
rerurned them. She made copies of patient D.D.’s medical records and put the originals bacl.% m the
charts which she returmned to the office files. After she gave the files to [avesdgator Holizman , and
they were returned to her, she kept them in her bedroom undl they were given o Aitomey
Rosenberg.

Ms. Black also acknowledged an acrimonious relationship with the Respondent by the time
her employment ended. Some of the complaints that she expressed to Investigator Holzman were
that she thought thf. Respondent was a racist who discriminated berween black and white patiznis
and that he talkiad to her liks she was 2 chiid. She admits that in one angry confrontation she .C"_._ w
a chair, but she asserts that tais was 10 let off steam rather than to harm the Respondeat. She
contends that many of the poysical and emotional problems she is still dealing with begas witi iz

strasses of her employment with the Respondent.

VWitness: Sharon Biskner

Sharon Biskner was cerdiied 2s an Adminiswative Medical Assistant tn 1981. She beza:
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working at the Respondent's Bloomfield Hills office in 1986. Her job included receptionist,
clerical, bookkesping, filing and some patieat care duties. She workad with the Respondent untl

November 1995. She worked with Rebecca Black over an § year period when they wers both

employed with the Respondeat.

\fs. Biskner identified the Exhibis 2 Ulirasound form. She siated that everything except the
signatures is in her handwritng. This form indicates that D.D. had an ultresound on 10/14/94 for

“Gestational Age™.and the ulmasound findings were that the age was “74 weeks". She identified the

-~

signature for “Sonographer” as the Respondent’s. Ms. Biskner testified that she did not se-: D.D. on
10/14/94 because she was only working in the Bloomfeld Hills office at that time, and D.D. was se=n in
the Highland Park office. On the day Ms. Biskner filed out this form she had besn asked for an ultrasound
form by the Respondent. She then wrote the patient information that the Respondent dictated to her on
the form. She did not se2 D.D.’s complete patient chart at the time she filed out the form and she never
saw anOLh;:r ultrasound form indicating a “28 week" gestational age for D.D. on 10/14/94. Although Ms.
Biskner ind_icategi?mat the Respondeat would sometimes ask her fora dupticateshest for a chartif an ervor
had occurred, no notation was made in the charts indicating a replacement form was being added to a
chart, When Ms. Biskner filted out the form regarding patient D.D., it was the only time she was ever
asked to assist with an itrasound form. She confirms that there is ro place on the form ladicaiing (he date
that it Is signed Dy the Raépoudent, as opposed to the dzte of the proczdurs.

Ms. Biskner stated that part of her responsibilities was mainiaining patien: recorcs and 50 she Was

fammiliar with the differsat forms in D. D.’s charts. Oue of the first pages of her charvis a November 16,



" 51,600 is mdxcated as the pnc:«. for a 22 week abartion. However, in further testimony ba_sed on the

i

Docket No. 96-0616 .. ..

OHS v Jose Gilberto Higuera, ‘ri D
Proposal for Decision

Page 13

-

1994 request by D.D.’s insurance company for an “operative regort” from Respondent’s office. Ms.
Biskner, or other swaff who dealt with maintaining records, would sead this information back to the
insurance company after obuining all of the necessary information fom decuments ia the racords.
Exhibit 2 contains a fee agresment signed by D.D. in which the “total facility fee” to be billed 0 her
insurance company is “S1,600".

Ms. Biskner identified the Exhibit 3 abortion fes chart used in Respondent’s office. The fee of

Exhibit 2 records, Ms. Biskner agreed that the total cost of D.D.’s abordon was SJ COO which

corresponds on Exhibit 3 to 26 wezks.

Witness: Mary Roetiger

Mary Roettger has worked at both of the Respondent’s offices since February 1994. At the time

of her testimony in August 1997 she was still employed thers. She is a recaptionist. Her dudes include

answering the phone, making appointments and helping patients fill out forms. She tesufied that what a2

patient reports as Iler LMP is used to determine fee esiimates. However, patients are informed that the

ultrasound results will be the ultimate determiner of fees, and that the Respondent makes that
determination. Although the Exiibit 3 fes schedule was in place when sha started, the prics list changas

from time to time according to decisions made by the Respondent. At the time of her tesimony, the price

list did not go past 24 weaks.

ora 13, or rore, wesk agarion.She

—ry

Ms. Roettger testified that she has never processed 2 parient

has informed patients who indicate they telieve they are 24 + weeks pregnant that if this is Gue,0r the
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Respondent determines them ta &e more than 24 wes=ks along, no abortion will take place. She qas seen
ultrasounds indicating a padent was 24+ weeks pregnant and she has talked to rejected padents and made

refarmals.

Witness: Maude Guerin, ¥M.D.

Maude Guerin M.D. is a Board Cerdfied OB/GYN, licensed in Michigaa since 1934, Her
Curriculum Vitag_\f.fas entersd as Exhibic 20. She is part of a group practice entitled “Mid-Michigan
Women's Health Care” with 4 other OB/GYN’s, in Lansing. She has performed abordons in 2 private
clinic setting. Dr, Guerin was qualified to give expert testimony. She reviewed the Respoa&e;ﬁ't’s patient
records for D.D. and the testimony of Rebecca Black.

Dr. Guerin testified that geswational age can be measured by a variety of methods, all based on the
fact that a fetus grows at a fairly constant rate up to apout 20 to 22 weelks gestation. For example, a baby
that is destined to be 10 pounds at birth will measure the same at 10 wess -gestation asa I?aby destined
to be 3 pounds at term. Thersfore, by measuriné_a large ;;u:h‘bc-ar of babies at various ages it is possible
to correlae size \};m gestational age.

In a pregnancy thought 1o be no more than (0 w0 11 weeks the more common measurement is the
“crown/rump” i-neLhod which basically measures the length of the f2tus. As the fecus develops. other parts
the head. The head measurement used mostoftza is the BPD, although
the circumnference can also be ussd. The BPD is usuaily determined using 2 calibrated machine. The
standard way of obtaining a BPD is to measure at the lavel of the thalamus which is an tnt=z cranial

strucure that can be se=n on the ulmasound. The process that Ms. Black described regarding how calipers
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are placed on the inside and outside of the sicull was confirmed as the correct procsss by Dr. Guedn.

Dr. Gnerin stated that a person does notnesd to be a physician of understand the paysics of the
ulesound machine to be able to perform an ulasound that accurately indicates gzsiadonal age. In De.
Guerin’s experience wlmasound machines ars caﬁbraﬁed and serviced by registersd techmicians. The
machines are programed to take the distance betwezn the calipers and trapslaie that into wesks,

Accordmg w0 Dr. Guerin Li:lt': ulrasound is the most accurate tool available for measuring
gestational age. A pelvic exam is less accurate for various reasons, especially afier 13 10 16 weeks
gestation. The ultrasound is also mors accurate than using the LMP to determme ges:auon because a
woman can have bleading that she perceives to be a period after becoming pragnant.

Finally, Dr. Guerin spoke to the issue of how to make changes ot corrections 0 a patiznt’s chart.
She stated that the standard of care requires that if there are late enimies (i.¢. not contemporaneous with
treatment) they should be ideatfied as late enties or corrﬂ'cu.cms and should be dated and contain the
signarure of the person making the changes. Since nurses or assistants doing preliminary exams chart their
findings, ifa pnysu:mn disagre2s with those findings, the physician should make rotation of his or her

-:

separate findings. The physician should not erase or tzke the nurse or assistant’s findings out of the charT,

rather, the physician adds findings with an explanation of the differences. In Dr. Gueria's opinion the

standard of care in the practice of medicine is compromised by removing records from 2 patient chart, [f

,
Fal
adure,

the Respondent did not creatz 2n uigasound report contemporznzausly with performing the proce

the correst procsss would be to prepare one and indicate that it is a late entry which was not made

contemporaneously with the padeat’s care.
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Witness: Erich Speckin

Erich Speckin is a Forzasic Document Analyst and Forensic Chemistqualified asan expert wimess
in the area of “ink dating”. Subsaquent {0 the close of the record in this matier, the Raspondent filed a
Mation to Reopen Proofs to address the issue of the reliability of ink dating based on information rzceived

after the hearings concluded.

This Administrative Law Judge ﬁnd; it unnecessary to reopen the proofs. Aﬁe'r‘_r'eviewmg
the testimony and exhibits offered regarding the issue of ink dating, as it relates to crucial c;io‘éuments in
this matter, I find that the conclusions reached by Mr. Speckin using this:p.)rocess are of lirde weight
compared to the testimony of the other wimesses regarding esseatial facts. This is not a mater where
scientific evidence, in the narure of document analysis, 1S determinative. |

The majority of the analysis provided by Mr. Speckin dealt with whether impressions on
docurnents that may have been above ot under or.he? documents , and the relative date of the ink on those
documents, ;oulc[ gstablish that s<‘3me documents wers created ata ime signi_ﬁce_ntly different than a date

appearing on the document. However, the issue of whether patient D.D.’s total chart was altered. is not

dependent on whether a document was created at 2 date later than the date on that document. The issue

is whether documents were created or replacad in the charts in a manner that alters erucial medical

information about a patient. such that it is misleadine or falsely represents the patents actual

medical or physical condition. The competent, matenial and subsiantial evidencs regarding this issue was

-

presented by the patient, staff and the physician qualified to give expert tesumony. The evidence offered
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through Mr. Speckin is not material to the uldmate issue as expressed above.

Re: Allegation that TV’s and Svringes were Reused

Witness: Respondent

Exhibit 23 contains excerpts ffom deposidon te;timony b'y the Respondeant, takan in another
marcter, on Octob::;r 17, 1995. The Respondent testified that he did use the same [V bag v_n'th the same
:sravenous solution in more than one patient after changing the inravenous set. He also aggwowledged
using the same syringe and nezdle to draw a drug (e.g. Demerol) from its’ bottle and mJeCt it into. IV
tubing on different patients. According to the Respondent, “ the nezdle of the syringe does not ouch the
patient and does not get contaminated in the process, rather, it just remains as a (Demerol) drawing
syringe.”(Exhibit 23 pp. 129-130) In contrast, all syringes used o inject a patient directly were
immediately disposed of.

The Respondent explained that the syringe used only to draw a drug out of a togle, would be
injected into a spgctfic rubber saction of the IV set which is at least 36 inches fom the nesdle that is in
the patient’s vg:i'n. He believes it is highly unlikely for the patients blood to back up into this section of
the [V tubing because of gravity, uniess the [V bag was lowered to the floor. However, he acknowledged
that there is no clamp or other apparats that could physically siop blood Fom backing up in e tubing
to the site where the drug is injected, other than graviry.

The Respondeat also acknowiedges using the same I'V bags on different padents afier changing

the “['V set". For example, whea he would use Pitocin with glucose, which is a poteat drug , there 15 no
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set dosage because every padent reacts differeatly. His procedure is to inject gmall doses and watch the
patients reaction. If the total amount of Pitocia in an IV bag was not used on a given pateat, he might use
the rernaining Pitocig, in that bag, on another patient after changing the [V set.

Witness: Rebecca Black

Ms. Black testified that although the Respondent used one [V bag per patieni when she began
working for him, this changed about | to 2 years before she left. According to Ms. Black, the Respondent
told staff there was. got%u.ng wrong with this as long as the “burterfly needle at the end” was cha:nced She
described the butterfly nesdle as the needle that goes into the patient from the IV bag. Some W bags were
kept hanging overnight for use with the next day’s patients. Ms. Black asserts that she questiop.ed the
propriety of this because in aer PN training they were taught that oaly one IV bag per patient was
appropriate o prevent possible contamination from blood backing up in the [V tube.

Ms. Black also stated that around the same time the Resp—onaent changed his policy on use of IV
bags he also ordered a change in how syringes were used. He told Ms. Black to label sytinges each day
with the medicatigps they were using (e.g. Valium, Demerol ot Versed) and that same syTinge would be
used 1o draw the medicine indicated on its label until the boule of medicine was used up. If the toule of
a particular medicine was natused up with one patient, the same syringe would be used to draw medicine
for other patients. According to Ms. Black, the R;s;ondenz instituted this policy becauss ha said thay were
using 100 many SyTinges. Toe Exhibit § syrnges included labels that Ms. Black identified as her

{ighiand Park oif1ce

handwriting. Ms. Black indicated that she would prepare 5 svringes each day for the Hig

and then in the afternoon when they switched to Bloomfield Hills, ftve more syringes would be



<
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for that offica.

When Ms. Black questioned the Respondeat about the propriety of using the same SYTinge with
different patients, he said it was safe as long as they didn’t get any blood tn them or put any gesdles intg
the padeats arms (1., a3 opposed to using the syringe o inject the [V bag). Her CONCER Was acout the
possibility of contamination becauss whea an IV tuee is sqtie-:::eci sometdmes olocd fom the patient
shoots up the tbe and could corae in contact with the syringe being used to inject medicanoa into the [V
bag. That blo_od' t_:oyld then be mansferred to the next patient if the same sytinge 1s used. If_ Ms. Black
acrually saw blood on a syringe she threw itaway, but other staff were also responsible for ﬁlﬁng syringes
and using [V bags and she can’t azest to their practices. Further, thers is always the possibility that blood

could be present that was not visible.

Witness: Sharon Biskner

Sharon Biskner also testified that I'V bags were moved ffom room to room and used on more than
one patient. Although she chang gad the tubing and infusion set on an IV bag ccc..sxonaily, this was not
one of her -regulf duties. Ms. Biskner did discuss the cost of [V sets with the Respondent and he
expressed a concern about keepiog over head cost down. She was unaware of whether syringes were used

on multiple patients.

Witness: Richardean Jackson

Richardean Jackson bezzn working with the Resuonaent as a mmedical office assistantin 199 1.Her
duties include taking patieat bleed prassures and temperature Leaamas and preparing them for uiresounds.

Each day she also prepares mecications and makes sure new [V bags and [V bugerflies sets are available
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in each room. Ms. Jackson testied that (as of the ume of her testimony tn August [997) the current
procedure in the offics was 0 use oely one IV bag and butterfly set per patient. This is also the curane
procedure for using syringes. After a syringe is used to inject medicine into an [V bag or dirzetly into a

patient, it is disposed of in 2 SHARP coatainer. The policy of using only one [V and one syringe per

patient has been in effect since late 1954,

Witness: Maude G_'.ueriu. M.D.

Dr. Guerin testified that the minimum standard of care for use of intravenous infusion sets,
including the IV bags and IV wbing is that they are for single patieat use only. This was .lzd‘éhciﬁed as
standard procedure in hospitais as we[l as in clinic settings. Further, this would have been the standard
of care applicable in 1994 and ea.r[ier. The standard of care for using syringes is also single patient use
only. This standard is applicable even if the weatment is considered miner surgery. The issues of integrity

and sterlity of the [V’s and syringes exist under all situations of shering [V's and sytinges berweer

patients.

The rationale for single patient use of IV's and syringes is that when a needle (i.e. ofa syringe)
is introduced through a diapfiragm such as the rubber diaphragm at the end of TV wbing, it then becomes
le i-s in the [V tubing and is then taken out of

part or contiguous with the padent’s svstem. When the need

the [V tubing and put into apother patient’s [V wbing, essentially, the second patent Is being exposed ©

the first patient’s bloodszeam. This has the potential of exposing he second patient to lethal infacions

acquired from a previous patieat.

When, as is the case with [V’s and syringes, certain dsks can be wotally eliminated by following
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basic and easy procedures, there is 0o differencs berwesn 2 “minimal siandard of care” and a basic
wsrandard of care”. Dr. Guerin opined that reusing [V's and syringes constitutes 2 oreach of the
physician's duty to patients &at s bevond a failure to follow minimum or basic swandards of cars, rather
it'bccorncs an act of negligeacs. lidces not diminish the negligencs i if a syringe is used oaly to wansfer
medicine from a single, multidose botie to an IV infusion set used by mors than one p?.f.ieat. [calso does
not negate: the neallge'xC° that the same syringe needle was only used to wacsier medicine Fom 2 boale

to IV tubing, but not directly into a padent. In Dr. Guerin’s opinion there is never a Justmaole reason to

transfer TV bags and tubing or to rsuse sytinges for teagment of more than one patent Blacd and

infectious agents are microscopic, and it can tzke small amounts of these agents o cause infection.

Further, bacteria can grow in [V wbing if the bags are left overnight after use on a patieat whica c2a oe

transferred to another patizal.

Character Wiinesses
The Respondent prasented the deposition testimony ofthe following witnesses who were notcalled

as experts and had no personal involvement in the facts alleged in the complaint in this mater

1. Jose Siero, M.D.

RS

. Donzld Bredley, M.D.

. Joseph Berke, M.D.

L)

4, Alberto Hodas, M.D.

Angel Ojeda, M.D.

(1Y

6. Rodolfo Finkaistein, M.D.
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7. Enrique Gerbi, M.D.
8. Linda Federhart

9, Carmen Franco

Among the opinioas, descriptions and accalades given by the above character wimesses , the
Respondent was found to te 2 caring, compassionate and competent surgeon. The wimesses wars
generally familiar with the charges against the Raspondent. The physicians who gave opinion tesiimony

generally agreed t-k;:ag removing an original patient chart and replacing it without indicatng :.aa\t_ anew or
corrected/upd.ated chart was being placed in a file would be wrong. They also gene:aﬂya ag:se that the
standard of care for use of IV's aad syringes is “one per patient”. Some of the witnesses did not telteve
that the Respondent could have committed acts that would correspond with less than competeat care. The

physicians who had worked wit or had used the Respondent as a substitute in their practices, were

generally in agreement that the Respondent was competent and they did not question working with him

in the furure.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Re: Altering Patient Records

The testimony of patient D.D., Rebecca Black, Randi Holzman and Dr. Maude Guerin most
credibly established the following facts:
1) The Respondent was aware that an ulmasouad done by Ms. Black on patizat D.D.

October 14, 1994, in his Highiand Park office, showed 28 wesks.

2) The Respandeat did a second ultasound on October 14, 1994 that showed that D.D.
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was more than 24 wesks pregnant.
3) Both Ms. Black and the Respondest told D.D. that she was mors than 24 wesl
pregnant.

4) Ms. Black prepared an ultresound form indicatng her fAndings of 28 weeks gestation.
5) The Respondent did not sign the uitrasound form prepared by Ms. Black and did

not prepare an ultrasound form contemporaneously with the ulzasound he performed

on D.D. on October 14, 1994. i : _

6) At some point, but not on October 14, 1994, the Respondent had staff p-e'-sdn Sharon
Biskner prepare an ultrasound form, in his Bloamfield Hills office, indicating that

on Octaber 14, 1994, he performed an ultrasound on patient D.D. which res;zltec' in

a reading of “24 wezks” gestation.

7) The Respondent did not ma:Lke any notation anywhere in D.D.’s total medical records
indicating that the form showing 24 weeks was not made contemporaneously with the
pe:g_forrnance of the ultrasound or that there had besn readings by both he and Ms. Black
s_howing that D.D. was as much as three or four wes\s past 24 wesks. _
8) Dr. Guerin, the expert witness for the Petitioner, established that a person does not
have (o be 2 pitysician to periorm an accurate ulrasound. Rebecca Black's description of
her experience and undersianding of how to perform and read ulmasound resulis, is
the tesiimony of Dr. Guerin's regarding the basic precedure for taking

consistzat with the

measurements that are put into the ulrasound machine.
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9) Ms. Black was unaware that the Respondent had signed another ulzasound form
indicating 24 weeks of gestation for patient D.D. on Ocrober 24, 19%94.

10) The fact that Ms'.'Black left her employment with the Respondent under less than
amiable condidons, does not negate the credibility of her testimcﬁy coacerning patient
D.D.'s ultrasound on October 14, 1554

11) At the time Ms. Black showed state investigator Holtzman patient D.D.’s medical

rc.c:‘.:oqrds and file in January 19953, ther was o ultrasound form in the re':.Or&. ;S_howi_ng
a 24 week pregnancy on October 14, 1994. )
12) The Respondent did not produce the 74 week ultrasound form contemporaneously
with the procadure, rather he created the 24 wes=k form more than thres months afier the
procedure.

13) Patient D.D. and her insurance company paid the R:espondcm approxdmately

$3,000 for the procedure which, according to the Respondent’s fee schedule in place

in October 1994, would have corresponded to procedures for patients aver 24 wesks

-

pregnant.
14) The Respondent knowingly misrepresented the actual medical coadition of pa:iennc
D.D. by glacicg the 24 wesk ulirasound form in her file.

15) The Respondeant fziled t0 accurately and ethically make changes to a patient’s flle

in accordance with minimal standards for adding or deletng crucial padent information.

Re: Reusing [V’s and Svrioges
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The testimony of the Respondent, Rebecca Black, Sharon Biskner and Dr. Maude
Guerin most credibly established the following facts:

1) The Respondent acknowledged that for a peried of time, it was 2 siandard procedure

1 his offices to reuse IV bags and the syringe/nesdles used to draw medicine from a

particular bowle for infusion into the wbing of an [V bag.

2) The Respondent did not believe he was putting patients at risk by having them share

I';fi];!ags or by reusing nesdles to infuse medicine into [V sets that were u-ansfg_ned

between patents. Tre Respondent did not reuse syringe/oesdles for direct i.i;jnection

into a patient’s skin.

3) Reusing I'V’s and syringes jeopardizes the integrity and sterility of the individeal

[V’s and syringes and puts patents at risk of infectious agents from other patients.

4) When the risk of infe;:tion to patients fr;m [V sets and syringes can be reduced to

almost zero by using only one IV or one sytinge per patient, to do otherwise for the
sake of lowering cost, ot for any other non-medical reason, i's below the minisnal

-

standards of care prescribed for all doctors, in all locales and in all facilies providing

medical care.
5) As of lazz 1994, the Respondent had instituied 2 one [V and one syriage per
patient policy in his offices.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The principles that govern judicial procesdings also apply 1o adminiswative hearings. Tne burden
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of proof is upon the Peticoner t0 prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that e Respondent
violated the Code as alleged and that grounds exist for the imposition of sagctions. Smith v.

School District, 428 Mich 248; 406 NW2d 825 (1987).

Section 16221(3)

Competent, material and substantial evidence was preseated, to prove by 2 preponderance, that
the Respondent altered a patient chart and/or medical record, in a manner that misrepresented e actual
medical status o‘E. a patient who underwent wreatment. Further, a preponderance of the eﬁdcnc_séfablished
that the Respondent reused [V’s and sytinges berween patients. The Respondent’s conduc.tl ;:'an'd'f;.Ites a

violation of his general dury and is conduct that impairs the safe and skillful pracdee of medicine.

Therefore, the Respondent has viplated Section 1622]1(a).

Section 16221(b)XD

A preponderancs of the evidence established that it is below the minimal standards of practice for
a physician to alter a patieat’s medical records without proper notation of what has occurred. Further, it
is, and has always been, below the minimal standards of practics foca physician to reuse [V bags and

syringes beeween patients. The Respondent's conduct of altering a patient’s records and reusing ['V’s and

syringes canstitutes incompetance. Therefore. the Respondent has violated Section 16221(6WD

Section 16221(b)vi)

A pregonderance of the evidence established that the Respondent knowingly put a misleading
izdicatas a

ultrasound form in a patients cart menths after the procsdurs was performed. This conduct &2

lack of propensity to serve the public in a fair, honest and open manaer and demonsiTates a lack of good



-
-

moral character. Therefore, the Respondent has violated Section 16221(b)(¥i).

EXCEPTIONS

The parties may file Exceptions to this Proposal for Decision within fifieen (135) days after it is
issued and entered. An opposiag paJ.:ty may file a response within five (3) days afier Exceptions are filed.
Any such Exceptions shall te Sled with the undersigned Adminiszative Law J udge at the Depargneat of
Consumer and Industy Services, Office of Legal Services, Omawa State Office Building, 611 West

Ottawa, Second .P%l'éor, Lansing, Michigan.
RENEE A. OZBURN v
ADMINISTRATIVE LAY JUDGE




PROOF OF SERVICE -

| hereby state, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, that a copy of the
foregoing document was served upon all parties and/or attorneys of record in this matter by
facsimile and/or by mailing same to them at their respective addresses as disclosed by the file, with
postage fully prepaid on the 7 day of October 1398.

¢

/;' W GQ- ATy
Maraloy D. Thomas {/ -
Office of Legal Services

e

Max R. Hoffman, Jr.

Farhat & Story, P.C.

Suite 3, Beacon Place

4572 South Hagadorn Road

Fast Lansing, Michigan 48823-5385

a copy was sent [D mail to:,

Merry A. Rosenberg .

Assistant Attorney General
Department of Attorney General
Health Professionals Division

Ray R. Garza, Manager
Complaint Section
Office of Health Services



STATE OF MICHIGAN <

' Ny
DOCUMENT CERTIFICATION e, NG
STATE OF MICHIGAN,
COUNTY OF WAYNE, } S5
CITY OF DETROIT
1, CATHY M. GARRETT , Clerk of the Third Judicial Circuit Caurt do hereby

certify that the foregaing is currently taken and cogied from the original record in the case of

Peogle vs. JOSE G. HIGUERA Casa No. 37008841

now remaining in my office, and of record in said Court, and that the sane has been examined and compared by
me with the original of said record in said cause, and that it is a correct transcript therefrom, and of the whole of

such ofiginal record.

In Testimony Whereof, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed

the seal of said Court, this_ L2TH

day of JUNE in the year two
thousand and ONE
CATHY M.,GARRETT L Clerk

Per o/

CHRISTINA PHILLIPS

Caplity Clerk

"
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STATE OF MICHIGAN PRETRIAL CASE NO.M&ZL

THIRD JUDICIAL COURT SETTLEMENT OFFER
CRIMINAL DIVISION AND NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE | PROS.WAR. NO.

Defendant's Name

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE v Jose & KHiGlerg
OF MICHIGAN
SID LPD
PRETRIAL SETTLEMENT OFFER
@ Mo charge reduction D Charge reduction
ATTEMPT  STATUTORY
COUNT; SPECIFY CHARGE(S) PACC 75092 MAXIMUM PENALTY
/| fereled Mepicat flecaed TsD . 492 A 14! pe]
l:] Sentence Agreement D Agree to Guideline Sentence D Santence Recommendation
H CoRRES .
Dyismiss  Corr LL
People agree to PA 511 sentence D People object to PA 511 sentence

Sentence is mandatorily consecutive by law to

People agree to withdraw notice to enhance sentence.
Dismiss Cocpr L __in exchange for piea in this case.

Other prosecutorial agreement__~__° .‘.,:" . P
STlo . T e,
/ / Date - %_,-/ T —Frasoauiing Altorney 45/U5/6}¢L

NOTICE OF AEZGEPTANCE

| HEREBY ACCEPT THE ABOVE PRETRIAL SETTLEMENT OFFER AND WAIVE THE FOLLOWING RIGHTS:

. THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OR TRIAL 8 THE COURT WITH THE PROSECUTOR'S CONSENT.
THE AIGHT TO BE PAESUMED INNOCENT UNLESS PROVEN GUILTY BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.
THE RIGHT TO CONFARONT AND QUESTION THE WITNESSES AGAINST ME.
. THE RIGHT TO HAVE THE COURT COMPEL WITNESSES TO COME TOQ COURT AND TESTIFY FOR ME.

THE RIGHT TO TESTIFY AT MY TRIAL. THE RIGHT TO AEMAIN SILENT AND NOT HAVE MY SILENCE USED AGAIMST ME.
THE RIGHT TO CLAIM MY PLEA WAS THE RESULT OF PROMISES OR THREATS NOT DISCLOSED TO TriE COURT, OR THAT
IT WAS NOT MY CHOICE TO PLEAD GUILTY.

THE RIGHT TO APPEAL AS OF RIGHT AS TO CONYICTION AMD SEMTENCE.
LIMZR, 5 Dot W 5 /o)
v o " Date

V Defendant / v

LOooan

DU s LR

~

Dale Oefense Attorng

Jlqintutlon: fink —~Dalanse Atllamay

N ‘fihila —Caun &l
Form #71 (5/93) FatlonPrasacatos
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':\; ' Fam GRIMCYS BGRCVSENT! CLKGRAHAM £+ , 3
' STATE OF MICHIGAN ! ORDER s —
COUNTY OF WAYNE _ OF (CASE NO. 97008841-01
THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT CONVICTION AND SENTENCE
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN vs. HIGUERA,JOSE,GILBERTO

Defendant

5/07/2001  petore the Hon,  BOYKIN,ULYSSES W

1. At a session of the court on

a Judge of the court, the defendant was convicted by: L} Jury O Court Plea A
of the offenses(s) PACC code(s} 2
750492A1A MED-FLS INFRMN LT
l - e
2. The defendant was in court far sentence on 5/30/2001 _ and was sentenced by the court to:
ﬁ Probation, for a term of _‘/ vears. {see separate probation order)

[1 Michigan Department of Corrections, confined for a tarm of not less than nor moare than

years,

The maximum statutary penalty for the crime(s) of which said defendant stands convicted is years,
(] Jaii confinement for days/months.
[1 The conviction is reportable to the Secretary of State under MCL257.732 or 281.1040.

The defendant's drivers license number is

RECOMMENDATION
[ HIV taesting was ordered on

The defendant was represented by ATTORNEY Mﬂ)( Z//?r( o) BAR NO Jﬁ_fﬁ

and is to be given credit for days served jn JAIL.

SAID CREDIT TO BE APPLIED TO MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM SENTENCE,

? Uligpazn 8- P

Judge

CORVICTSED QROER OF COMVICTIOM AMD SEMTEMCE
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